
Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

1 

 

MINUTES OF MECKLENBURG COUNTY, NORTH CAROLINA  
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

 
 
The Board of Commissioners of Mecklenburg County, North Carolina, met in Budget/Public Policy 
Session in Conference Center Room 267 on the 2nd floor of the Charlotte-Mecklenburg 
Government Center located at 600 East Fourth Street, Charlotte, North Carolina at 2:33 p.m. on 
Tuesday, December 12, 2023.  
 
 

ATTENDANCE 
 
Present:  Chair George Dunlap, Vice-Chair Mark Jerrell 

and Commissioners Leigh Altman,   
Arthur Griffin, Vilma D. Leake, Laura J Meier, Elaine Powell,  
and Susan Rodriguez-McDowell 
County Manager Dena R. Diorio 
County Attorney Tyrone C. Wade 
Clerk to the Board Kristine M. Smith 
Deputy Clerk to the Board Arlissa Eason 

 
Absent:  Commissioner Patricia “Pat” Cotham 
 
 
CALL TO ORDER  

 
The meeting was called to order by Chair Dunlap, followed by introductions and the Pledge of 
Allegiance to the Flag. 
 
  
23-0748 CORPORATE OWNED RENTALS UPDATE 
 
The Board received as information an update on the consultants' and staff's research findings. 
 
Gina Esquivel, Director of the Lee Institute, Eric Moore, Angelique Gaines, and Rebecca Hubert 
gave the presentation. 
 
Background:  In spring 2022, staff provided a presentation to the BOCC regarding corporate 
owned rentals in Mecklenburg County. During the presentation, the Board received data and 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

2 

 

other source information about the subject, examples of ways to respond to the matter, and a 
panel presentation. At the conclusion of the meeting, the Board directed the County Manager to 
continue to research options for consideration and in the future provide the Board additional 
recommendations for its consideration. Given a need to engage the community for possible 
recommendations for staff to consider, staff entered into a contract with the Lee Institute to 
obtain resident perceptions of and impacts on residents regarding corporate owned rentals in 
Mecklenburg County. The purpose of the presentation is to share the consultants' and staff's 
findings from the community engagement efforts. Additionally, the BOCC will be asked to reaction 
to and provide any additional considerations before County staff finalize its next steps. 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

3 

 

 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

4 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

5 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

6 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

7 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

8 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

9 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

10 

 

 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

11 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

12 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

13 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

14 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

15 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

16 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

17 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

18 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

19 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

20 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

21 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

22 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

23 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

24 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

25 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

26 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

27 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

28 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

29 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

30 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

31 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

32 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

33 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

34 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

35 

 

Comments  
 
Commissioner Altman asked what the Board had the power to do. Dr. Allen said she would refer 
to the presentation provided last year to outline what the Board could and could not do. County 
Attorney Tyrone Wade said not much had changed legally. Dr. Allen said they did see the numbers 
go down, but that didn’t mean they wouldn’t go back up.  
 
Commissioner Leake asked how they were to provide growth with old infrastructure and how 
they could come up with conducive standards for communities/neighborhoods. Dr. Allen stated 
that the analysis was at the community level. She stated that the point of today was to provide 
the community's voice along with what her team found to determine what they could do. 
 
Commissioner Griffin said they couldn’t do what they wanted without legislation. He said the 
corporate groups highlighted affordability as an issue. He stated that in 2022, the average person 
needed to earn at least $19.50 an hour to afford a one-bedroom apartment. He stated that as of 
2023, it went up to $22.69. He suggested the County could raise the lowest-paid salaries to the 
$22.69. 
 
Commissioner Meier thanked Dr. Allen. She asked when the organizations went and surveyed did 
the County, with the information of what they could/couldn’t do, have that conversation with 
the groups they were speaking to. 
 
Ms. Esquivel said that they introduced the current state and didn’t want to make 
suggestions/actions; they specifically wanted to hear what came from them.  
 
Commissioner Meier said she worried that people don’t understand what the County could and 
couldn’t do. Dr. Allen agreed she didn’t think the residents understood but wanted to educate 
them. 
 
Commissioner Powell thanked everyone involved with the survey. She said it was important for 
them to listen to the community. She said there were more corporate houses than privately 
owned homes on some of the streets in her district. She said she knew one neighborhood that 
had to create a Homeowner’s Association (HOA) to protect themselves. She said they burdened 
those neighborhoods, especially in the Extraterritorial Jurisdiction (ETJ). She asked if there was 
any power and if it would be in the HOA. 
 
County Attorney Wade said that sometimes corporations tried keeping communities from 
creating HOAs. 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

36 

 

Commissioner Rodriguez-McDowell said the process took a long time, a lot of work and thanked 
her for her work. She stated they valued speaking to the community and getting their feedback. 
Dr. Allen said they would continue monitoring the data. 
 
Vice Chair Jerrell thanked Dr. Allen. He stated the community wanted them to do something 
about it. He said with education, educating the community was something they could implement 
right away, so citizens could protect themselves. In collecting the data, he mentioned the 
neighborhoods being impacted. He stated around the ETJ, specifically Bradfield Farms, they were 
targeting the most vulnerable communities. He said when they take 11,000 to 13,000 homes off 
the market there’s a disproportionate impact with supply for residents that couldn’t purchase. 
He asked if they could expand the scope of Legal Aid or other sources to come in to support. He 
said it was shameful they could come in and not respond to residents to have basic needs fixed. 
He stated they would have to look into subsidies for rent. 
 
Chair Dunlap said they confirmed what they thought when they raised the issue. He asked, from 
a legal standpoint, if there were things the County could do to help remedy the issue. He said 
that in 2008, corporate-owned rentals stabilized their tax rate. He said some communities were 
more vulnerable and suffered more.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

37 

 

23-0739 CITIZEN’S CAPITAL BUDGET ADVISORY COMMITTEE CHARTER 
 
The Board received a presentation on proposed amendments to the Charter of the Citizen’s 
Capital Budget Advisory Committee (CCBAC). 
 
Gabe Mathless, Chair of the CCBAC, gave the presentation. 
 
Background:  With the County's transition to an annual Capital Improvement Plan process, 
members of the CCBAC are proposing several revisions to the Committee Charter in order to refine 
the focus of the Committee and accurately reflect their objectives and functions. 
  
The proposed changes are highlighted red in the attached document. 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

38 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

39 

 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

40 

 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

41 

 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

42 

 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

43 

 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

44 

 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

45 

 

 

 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

46 

 

 

 

Citizens Capital Budget Advisory Committee 

 

 

1. The Committee will be focused on the charge given by the Board of County Commissioners: 

 
 To receive and review information related to capital projects as part of the annual Capital 

Improvement Plan development process.  This review shall not include projects related to Charlotte 

Mecklenburg Schools; 

 Review each agency’s capital planning and needs development processes including the opportunities 

afforded for the receipt of public input within the process; 

 Report to the Board of County Commissioners annually on the Committee’s evaluation of the 

following: 

i. Overall Capital Improvement Plan development process 

ii. Underlying agency methodology for developing project funding requests 

iii. Critical projects included and/or excluded for funding 

iv. Relative allocation of available funding to requesting agencies 

 Review and provide guidance on the Participatory Budgeting process; 

 Meet periodically throughout each year with such frequency necessary to receive information and to 

prepare its report to the Board. 

 

2. The committee shall be made up of not more than seven members that must be residents of 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

47 

 

– 

Mecklenburg County.  The Committee must have at least 3 members to conduct business.  

Ideally, members should be selected such that they live throughout the County and possess a 

variety of educational and professional experiences, genders, races, and backgrounds so as to 

provide a diversity of perspectives.  

3. A quorum, consisting of a majority of members, must be present for an official meeting of the 

Committee and for official action to be taken. Decisions of the Committee are determined by a 

majority vote of the members present. 

 

4. A chair and vice chair will be elected by members. 
 

5. The Chairman may appoint subcommittees to work on specific tasks and reviews. These sub-

committees will present information and recommendations to the Committee. The work of the 

subcommittees is considered “work in process” until official action is taken by the Committee. 

 

6. The Chairman will approve the agenda for distribution to members. Items may be placed on the 

agenda by any member of the Committee in advance of a meeting by requesting such at a 

previous meeting of the Committee or by contacting the Chairman at least one day prior to the 

day of approving the agenda for distribution. In order to add an item to the agenda during a 

meeting, all Committee members present must vote in favor of adding the item. 

 

7. All meetings of the Committee are open to the public. 

 

8. The Chairman or his/her designee shall serve as the official spokesperson of the Committee. In 

doing so, the Chairman will convey official actions taken by the Committee and may discuss the 

different viewpoints and concerns of the membership relating to these actions. Members of the 

Committee are to refer the media to the Chairman for this information.  

 

9. County staff is assigned to the Committee and its subcommittees to provide information and 

administrative support for the Committee’s charge. Requests for information and support should 

be made to the assigned staff, preferably during meetings, rather than to individual County 

departments or other agencies participating in the County’s capital program. 

 

10. It is appropriate for a member of the Committee to be excused where that member recognizes a 

conflict of interest between his own interest and the interest of the County. It is suggested that, if 

in doubt, the member should be excused. It is also appropriate for a Committee member to be 

excused if he or she was not present for the discussion or dissemination of information in 

reference to the vote. 

 
 

Revised August 20, 2002 

Revised October 3, 2011 

Revised March 21, 2017 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

48 

 

Revised October 5, 2021 

Revised xxxxx 

 

 

Comments 
 
Commissioner Altman thanked him and said she didn’t realize their work. She stated in their last 
CIP she was basing what they knew from the CCBAC. She asked just looking at Park and 
Recreation Commission (PRC), if he thought the CCBAC could give good guidance absent the level 
of briefing that the Board had. Mr. Mathless said the CCBAC would never be as informed as the 
Board. He said they wanted to address that by operating under a modified model of meeting with 
groups such as the PRC to understand their projects and why they were prioritized the way they 
were. He said they could get community input and determine how they fit into their master plan 
and overall county priorities. 
 
Commissioner Powell said COVID-19 caused a lot of problems on their advisory boards. She said 
she would encourage them to have more meetings. She said they were a very important board 
in the past and didn’t want to lose them. Mr. Mathless clarified that there were some unofficial 
meetings they did not have minutes for.  
 
Commissioner Rodriguez-McDowell said it was more important to have more eyes than fewer 
since it involved a lot of taxpayer money. She said it was good to have perspectives and not act 
off the cuff. She said it was on the Board to put it in the proper context and to use it as 
information.  
 
Commissioner Griffin thanked him. He said it was a very important board. He expressed the 
importance of the board 20 to 30 years prior and said he hoped they would get back to that point.  
 
Chair Dunlap thanked him. He agreed that this was one of the most important advisory boards. 
He said he wanted to ensure it was fully staffed with competent people. He clarified that they 
reported to the Board and were considered the Boards eyes and ears. He asked why CMS was 
not included. Mr. Mathless said CMS had its own capital improvement process, separate from 
what the CCBAC did. Mr. Boyd said the previous year when they spoke on how much to allocate 
to CMS, it wasn’t the Board's role to decide which projects were funded and which didn’t.  He said 
the CCBAC focused on County specific projects.  
 
Chair Dunlap liked all the revisions, as they better reflected what they were expecting the 
community to do. He also thought it would be beneficial if they met monthly. He said billions of 
dollars were being spent, and the nine of them couldn’t watch them all.  
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

49 

 

23-0744 OFFICE OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT – STRATEGIC PLANNING UPDATE 
 
The Board received updates on the Office of Economic Development's strategic planning efforts.  
 
Roger Johnson, Director, Office of Economic Development 
Shahid Rana, Deputy Director, Office of Economic Development gave the presentation. 
 
Background:  The Office of Economic Development’s strategic planning framework has been 
updated, including new, enhanced, and ongoing programs. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

50 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

51 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

52 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

53 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

54 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

55 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

56 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

57 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

58 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

59 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

60 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

61 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

62 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

63 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

64 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

65 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

66 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

67 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

68 

 

 



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

69 

 

 
 
Comments 
 
Chair Dunlap said what was presented was a classic example of things they wanted to see 
changed. He said he hoped they took what was presented and provided an estimate of how long 
they believed each goal would take to accomplish. 
 
Commissioner Powell thanked them. She said this gave an awareness of how complex it was and 
what they had to consider. She said they couldn’t sacrifice the quality of life for economic 
development. She said they needed to be upfront with asking businesses how and what they 
would do. She added the incentives needed to harmonize with the Board’s priorities.  
 
Motion was made by Commissioner Altman, seconded by Commissioner Powell, and 
unanimously carried (8-0) to continue the discussion past 5:00 p.m. 
 
Commissioner Altman thanked him. She said she was still looking for a more robust 
implementation of workforce development because they had to help residents raise their 
household incomes. She said they needed someone whose priority was to move economic 
development forward. She asked what they would do to let workforce providers know the 
number of jobs that were coming so they could relay to residents that companies were in the 
market for employees in a certain amount of time.  



Meeting Minutes 
December 12, 2023 
 

70 

 

Chair Dunlap asked how many people out there needed to do workforce development and 
whether the County was the best place to do that.  He said taking that responsibility off County 
staff allowed them to do other things and use those resources to support economic 
development.   
 
Commissioner Leake said they didn’t have a middle class as they once had years ago. She asked 
how they could impact that and change that philosophy. 
 
Commissioner Griffin thanked him. He said it was a lot to unpack, but they set a framework for 
what they wanted to do. He also asked what the top three priorities were that they could drill 
down on. With 45% of residents being low-income earners, he said they had to figure out how to 
educate their way out of that. He said there was a certain skillset employers were looking for and 
said they had to figure out how to get young people ready for job market.  
 
Commissioner Rodriguez-McDowell thanked them for listening and including the ideas they had 
given them.  
 
Commissioner Meier thanked them. 
 
Vice Chair Jerrell thanked them. He said it was important for the full Board to get feedback.  He 
said connections to other departments was important. He said he wanted his colleagues to know 
that Roger was outstanding and that he was glad the Board had the opportunity to see that.  
 
 
23-0747 COMMISSIONER REPORTS 
 
Commissioners shared information of their choosing within the guidelines as established by the 
Board, which included, but not limited to, past and/or upcoming events. 
 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
With no further business before the Board, Chair Dunlap declared the meeting adjourned at 5:23 
p.m. 
 
 
 
_________________________________ ____________________________ 
Arlissa Eason, Deputy Clerk to the Board                                             George Dunlap, Chair 


